University of Mississippi

eGrove

Honors Theses

Honors College (Sally McDonnell Barksdale Honors College)

Spring 4-8-2022

The Contribution of Environmental Education to Dismantling an Increasingly Dysfunctional Environmental Attitude

Jenna Patricia Santacroce University of Mississippi

Follow this and additional works at: https://egrove.olemiss.edu/hon_thesis

Recommended Citation

Santacroce, Jenna Patricia, "The Contribution of Environmental Education to Dismantling an Increasingly Dysfunctional Environmental Attitude" (2022). *Honors Theses*. 2543. https://egrove.olemiss.edu/hon_thesis/2543

This Undergraduate Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Honors College (Sally McDonnell Barksdale Honors College) at eGrove. It has been accepted for inclusion in Honors Theses by an authorized administrator of eGrove. For more information, please contact egrove@olemiss.edu.

The Contribution of Environmental Education to Dismantling an Increasingly Dysfunctional Environmental Attitude

Submitted to the faculty of

The University of Mississippi in partial fulfillment

of the requirements for the

Sally McDonnell Barksdale Honors College

by

Jenna Patricia Santacroce

The University of Mississippi

Oxford, MS

April 2022

Thesis Advisor: Dr. David Rutherford Second Reader: Dr. Zachary Vereb Third Reader: Dr. Clifford Ochs

Acknowledgments

I would first like to thank the Sally McDonnell Barksdale Honors College and the Trent Lott Leadership Institute for enabling me to conduct research and complete a comprehensive literature review on my fondest interest - the natural environment. It is not all students who have the opportunity to write and defend a thesis during their undergraduate studies.

I would also like to thank my thesis co-advisor, Dr. Vereb, for sharing his expertise in environmental philosophy and coaching me through the craft of creating a congruent argument. My thesis would be shortcoming without his additional resources and advice. I always looked forward to our conversations and, more often than not, needed his uplifting attitude and consistent encouragement to stay inspired. Dr. Vereb is one of few educators responsible for keeping alive my love for learning.

I would like to express my deepest thanks to my thesis advisor, Dr. Rutherford, who guided and supported me through each step of this process. He routinely reminded me that research is an adventure: "a challenging endeavor with an uncertain outcome." This certainly proved true. I am indebted to Dr. Rutherford for sharing his academic expertise, and perhaps more importantly, for sharing his wisdom through his life experiences. The most valuable education I received at this university was taught to me by Dr. Rutherford.

Finally, this thesis would not have been possible without the unwavering support of my family - my Mom, Dad, and brother, who are my backbone. I am especially thankful for my Mom, who is the inspiration for my work. The years spent at the park, at the beach, and in the mountains with my Mom were where she gifted me a lifelong, whole-of-body appreciation for the Earth. She instilled in me a love for nature and taught me, by demonstration, what it means to live purposefully. There would be no me and no motive without my Mom.

ii

Abstract

In part one, this thesis explains how a widespread environmental attitude, which is that it is permissible for humans to dominate the Earth, originated in early human history and remains prevalent today. This "domination attitude" is accompanied by American physical and social structures, otherwise referred to as provisioning systems, which largely constitute a current, prominent paradigm. This paradigm is leading to irreversible environmental degradation which adversely impacts all life on Earth. In part two, this thesis claims that this trajectory can be effectively diverted through a paradigm shift, one where the domination attitude is abandoned, humans pursue a more harmonious relationship with the environment, and current unsustainable provisioning systems are restructured. This thesis argues that one means to achieve a paradigm shift is by improving environmental education in the primary and secondary education system. This thesis discusses three specific areas of environmental education reform, including ecological literacy, critical thinking, and place-based and experiential learning.

Table of Contents

Introduction	1
Part I: The Increasingly Dysfunctional Environmental Attitude	4
Chapter 1: Environmental Attitude: Domination	5
The Ancient Past	
Agrarian Civilizations	
The Agricultural Revolution	
The Industrial Revolution	
World War II	
The Great Acceleration	
The Modern Environmental Movement	
The Contemporary Environmental Movement	
Chapter 2: Paradigm Shift	21
Population Growth	
Revolutionary Lifestyles	
The Anthropocene	
Part II: Environmental Education	30
Chapter 3: Environmental Education	31
Ecological Literacy	
Critical Thinking	
Place-Based and Experiential Learning	
Chapter 4: Ecological Literacy	35
Defining Ecological Literacy	

Earth-Centric Learning
The Study of Sustainability
Ecological Literacy in the Current Education System
Government Structure as an Obstacle
The Economy as an Obstacle
Reform to Ecological Literacy in the Current Education System
Chapter 5: Critical Thinking
Defining Critical Thinking
Critical Thinking in the Current Education System
Teacher-Centered Classroom Structure
Teach to Test Model
Reform to Critical Thinking in the Current Education System
Chapter 6: Place-Based and Experiential Learning
Defining Place-Based and Experiential Learning
Place-Based Learning
Experiential Learning
Place-Based and Experiential Learning in the Current Education System
Reform to Place-Based and Experiential Learning in the Current Education System
Conclusion
References

Figures

Figure 1.1. Components of provisioning systems	7
Figure 1.2. American Tin Plate Company in 1910 in Elwood, Indiana	10
Figure 1.3. Earth systems and socioeconomic trends between 1750 and 2010	12
Figure 2.1. Growth rate and total population of the Earth over the last 12,000 years	22
Figure 2.2. Human influence on a select group of planetary boundaries	25

Acronyms

ELP	Environmental Literacy Plan
EPA	United States Environmental Protection Agency
IPCC	Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change
OEE	Office of Environmental Education
NAAEE	North American Association of Environmental Education
NCLB	No Child Left Behind Act
NCLI	No Child Left Inside Act
NEEA	National Environmental Education Act

Introduction

The human view of the natural environment provides a window for understanding human interaction with the natural environment. Beginning in the ancient past, many humans viewed the Earth to be threatening. It is inferred that the fear of the Earth led to one of the earliest environmental attitudes - that it is permissible for humans to dominate the Earth. As humans gained a better understanding of Earth in more recent history, it became less threatening; nonetheless, the environmental attitude to dominate the natural environment was never abandoned. From the late 1500s until today, humans' widespread environmental attitude remained that it can be dominated, not so much to combat fear but instead to benefit humanity.

This domination attitude accompanies physical and social structures, otherwise referred to as provisioning systems, that place a demand on Earth's resources. The reason for this accompaniment could be that the domination attitude justified the emergence of environmentally-demanding provisioning systems, or that the provisioning systems constrain the kinds of attitudes that were and are reasonable for humans to adapt. Nonetheless, the domination attitude and provisioning systems existed, and still exist, intimately intertwined in what seems to be a feedback loop where they are mutually reinforcing.

In early history and for centuries after, the Earth was able to sustain these provisioning systems despite their demand on the environment because there were far fewer humans and human populations and activity were slow in growth. In more recent history, billions of people

have populated the planet and human activity has been expanding rapidly. Specifically, in the United States of America, provisioning systems became increasingly exploitative of the natural environment. These provisioning systems, which now exist not only in the United States but across the globe, are causing irreversible, life-threatening environmental degradation like rising sea levels which destroy entire coastal communities. An effective approach to diverting this trajectory is through a paradigm shift which entails abandoning the domination attitude, pursuing a more harmonious relationship with the environment, and restructuring unsustainable provisioning systems.

Many sectors of society must be altered to achieve a paradigm shift, however, improving environmental education in the United States' primary and secondary education system has great potential to lead humanity toward this achievement. Reform to primary and secondary environmental education in the United States is crucial because present-day environmental education, or lack thereof, perpetuates unsustainable provisioning systems, fails to equip learners with the necessary skills to recognize and respond to environmental threats, and disconnects students from the Earth. Three areas of environmental education that can address these insufficiencies include ecological literacy, critical thinking, and place-based and experiential learning.

First, improving ecological literacy education will provide students with an understanding of Earth's basic ecological functions and how humans interact, and usually interfere, with these functions. It will better help students view the world from an ecological perspective and employ a framework of thought referred to as systems thinking. Improving ecological literacy education will ultimately encourage students to create sustainable provisioning systems, rather than encourage them to successfully integrate into the unsustainable

provisioning systems that already exist. Second, improving critical thinking education, which is especially important in today's changing world, will enable students to apply new ideas to manage the existing and emerging challenges brought on by environmental threats. It will also help students challenge the causes of these threats, which are mostly unsustainable provisioning systems, and like ecological literacy education, it will enable students to create sustainable provisioning systems. Third, improving place-based and experiential education will foster learners' concern, curiosity, and capability to protect the environment by connecting them to the natural environment. Place-based and experiential learning will strengthen students' biophilic tendencies, underscore the relevance of the environment to everyday life, and reinforce students' capabilities through hands-on problem-solving activities.

The successful transition to a more sustainable paradigm requires more than reform to environmental education, including foundational changes in other sectors of society, however, environmental education is a crucial component to initiating and ultimately achieving this shift. Shifting to a sustainable paradigm is likely impractical without equipping the next generation for this transition through the improvement of environmental education that emphasizes ecological literacy, critical thinking, and place-based and experiential learning.

Part I:

The Increasingly Dysfunctional Environmental Attitude

Chapter 1:

Environmental Attitude: Domination

Emotions, beliefs, and behaviors toward the environment constitute an environmental attitude. It is important to acknowledge environmental attitudes because they provide an explanation, in part, for how and why humans interact with the Earth. In essence, environmental attitudes are a means to better understand human activity. The inferred environmental attitudes of some early humans are similar to those of present-day humans.

The Ancient Past

In the ancient past beginning about 1,000,000 BCE, which is otherwise referred to as the prehistoric era, early humans were threatened by the same environmental conditions that forced other species into extinction. Humans were defeated by carrying capacities, competed for resources, and generally had little understanding of natural phenomena which often led to inadequate protection from tornadoes, earthquakes, and other natural disasters. (Kemp, 2004) The complexity of Earth was threatening to humans, and in response, it is likely that many humans feared the natural environment. It is inferred that as a result of this fear, many prehistoric humans developed the environmental attitude that humans are permitted to dominate the Earth. Domination, in this context, includes the exertion of control and prevailing influence over many biotic and abiotic components of one's environment. This attitude, that it is permissible for

humans to dominate the natural environment, was never abandoned; it has been seen throughout history and now remains deep-rooted in present-day American and global systems.

One way to interpret how humans of the ancient past may have demonstrated this domination attitude was by their purposeful use of the Earth's resources. For example, prehistoric humans made tools from stone cores which were used to cut, chop, and scrape, specifically to improve their ability to hunt game and gather vegetation. (Sloan & Potts, 2010) Also, by 100,000 BCE, humans discovered fire which they used for hunting, warmth, and light. Despite these and other new tools and techniques, hunters and gatherers were nomadic and only hunted game, gathered vegetation, and lit fires in the general areas they occupied at that time. (Feeney, 2019) Because of their nomadism, the natural environment was able to recover once humans traveled elsewhere. (Kemp, 2004) Ultimately, while it is difficult to determine definitively whether humans maintained this environmental attitude based on the limited paleo evidence that is available to anthropologists, it can be inferred that one of the earliest environmental attitudes was that it can be dominated based on their behaviors. Despite this domination attitude and the physical and social systems that accompanied it, there was only regional and short-term environmental degradation during ancient times. (Kemp, 2004)

These physical and social systems, from here out, will be referred to as provisioning systems. Provisioning systems are the ways in which humans orient their lives, cultures, and institutions to achieve certain goals. (Fanning et al., 2020) Provisioning systems can be identified as physical systems, like infrastructure and technology, or social systems, like cultural norms, values, governmental institutions, the economy, and more. As illustrated in Figure 1.1, provisioning systems use resources from Earth's systems (referred to as biophysical resources) to

meet citizens' needs and wants (referred to as social outcomes). (Kemp, 2004) The first provisioning systems emerged in ancient times and have continually changed throughout history.



Figure 1.1. Components of provisioning systems (Kemp, 2004)

Agrarian Civilizations

New provisioning systems emerged with the rise of agrarian civilizations around 10,000 BCE when humans shifted away from nomadism to develop agrarian civilizations in some areas of the world. Perhaps because many humans maintained the domination attitude, they continued to frame their provisioning systems around dominating the environment; or, perhaps the behaviors and lifestyles that were inherited from the ancient past constrained the kinds of attitudes that were reasonable to adopt. In other words, if people of agrarian civilizations inherited and depended on prehistoric lifestyles that employed the domination attitude, then it may have been difficult to imagine a different environmental attitude, given their dependency. Whatever the reason for the accompaniment between the domination attitude and provisioning systems, in agrarian civilizations, humans engaged in behaviors that led to environmental degradation. Humans developed crop domestication, the use of natural irrigation systems, and the construction of artificial water distribution systems like small dams and ditches to maximize food supply. Later, energy-converting techniques and coal combustion emerged around 1400 CE. The domination attitude and its accompanying practices led to substantial soil depletion and water pollution, but these practices spread very gradually through communities. Therefore, humans still had only regional and short-term impacts on ecological systems. (Kemp, 2004)

By the 1590s CE, the attitude to dominate the natural environment shifted slightly. Unlike the ancient past, where humans sought to dominate the natural environment to combat their fear of the Earth, beginning around 1590, humans instead sought to dominate the natural environment for more instrumental purposes, primarily to improve their quality of life. This motive shift was due in large part to philosophers like Francis Bacon and Galileo Galilei who developed scientific theories that defined Earth's systems in quantitative measures. These theories allowed for a better understanding and explanation of natural phenomena. Because these measures made the environment easier for Western thinkers to understand and control, it made the environment less threatening for many. Galilei stated, "The laws of nature are written by the hand of God in the language of mathematics." (The Famous People, n.d.) Similarly, Bacon explicitly claimed that knowledge of nature is power over nature and that the natural environment should be utilized to maximize benefits to humanity. (Serjeantson, 2014) In time, as this information and ideology spread across the world, the improvement of human life became a significant reinforcing factor of the domination attitude.

The Agricultural Revolution

The new instrumental motive, to improve the quality of human life, quickly expanded human activity. One of the earliest instances of this accelerated expansion occurred during the Agricultural Revolution. The Agricultural Revolution, which began in Great Britain in 1710, was a time in which humans sought to increase food production by inventing major technological systems like marl treatment, crop rotation, and livestock breeding experimentation. These new provisioning systems led to the uprooting of natural ecosystems and habitats, soil erosion, and disruption to the hydrologic cycle, which first began in Great Britain, changing British landscapes and polluting the hydrosphere. Despite the environmental impacts of these provisioning systems, other countries, including the United States of America in the nineteenth century, recognized the effectiveness of these practices and quickly adopted them, in turn degrading their environments. Since the ancient past, the domination attitude and its accompanying provisioning systems had only regional and short-term environmental impacts. Beginning with the Agricultural Revolution, however, this domination attitude resulted in human-induced global and long-term environmental degradation. (Kemp, 2004)

The Industrial Revolution

The motive to maximize benefits to humanity even further accelerated human activity after the Agricultural Revolution. To maximize benefits to humanity, humans expanded not just agriculture but other sectors of society. An outgrowth of this was the Industrial Revolution, which also first began in Great Britain in about 1760 and made its way west to the United States of America by 1830. Now shifting the scope from global human activity to American activity, iron, steel, textile, and other industries emerged in the United States. In the United States, these, and other developments, like cities and the further development of railroads and steamships that connected them, brought economic growth to the communities in which they existed. Most notably, these developments resulted in economic growth. As the economy expanded, capitalistic economies and consumer culture, which is the focus on spending money on material goods, emerged. (Jackson, 2011) Because the attitude to dominate the environment was growing increasingly more prominent, the demands of expanding systems like industrialization, the economy, and consumer culture were satisfied at the expense of the ecological systems. Natural resources were generally used with little reluctance, and people continued to pollute the atmosphere and hydrosphere. (Kemp, 2004)

The domination attitude that accompanied these provisioning systems remained prevalent throughout the Industrial Revolution. For example, in 1910, a mother sent her daughter a postcard of the American Tin Plate Company, which was a fifty-four-smokestack factory in Elwood, Indiana. The mother described the American Tin Plate Company to her daughter as "a pretty place," which she wrote across the bottom of the postcard. Figure 1.2 is an electronic image of this postcard. (Davis & Henderson, 2011, p. 143)



Figure 1.2. American Tin Plate Company in 1910 in Elwood, Indiana (Davis & Henderson, 2011, p. 143)

In 2011, two scientists in the Journal of Public Health conducted a research study examining this message in the context of public perceptions in the early 1900s. The researchers initially had suspicions that the mother's message was ingenuine; however, they ultimately found her message to be sincere. Like this mother, the general public in the early 1900s viewed smokestacks as a promise of wealth for the communities in which they were located. The general consensus among the public was that any visible pollutants these smokestacks produced should be excused by their promised benefits to humanity. It was not uncommon for humans, especially industrial and political economists, to believe, "what's good for the industry is good for us." (Davis & Henderson, 2011, p. 143) Thus, the Industrial Revolution improved the quality of many lives, and as a result, the attitude to dominate the natural environment persisted.

World War II

As years passed, Americans continued to create and expand the systems that depleted natural resources and polluted the atmosphere and hydrosphere likely because they continued to bring benefits to humanity. Especially after the end of World War II in 1945, Americans were left essentially unscathed compared to other nations involved in the conflict. This stability, compared to that of other nations, enabled the United States to continue progressing with urbanized, industrial, and consumer developments. These very provisioning systems were then adopted by unstable countries, and the United States enjoyed hegemony, which is social, cultural, ideological, or economic influence, over the rest of the world. (Stokes & Raphael, 2010) The American provisioning systems that were adopted by these then unstable countries are still mostly in practice today.

The Great Acceleration

It was not until the Great Acceleration that there became an observable reason to largely question the domination attitude and the provisioning systems of which it was intertwined. The term "Great Acceleration" refers to the significant changes to Earth's systems that appear to have resulted from increasing human activity, also referred to as anthropogenic forces. Beginning in 1950, it became clear to the scientific community that the degradation of these ecological systems inarguably coincided with the expansion of human activity. For example, Figure 1.3 illustrates many of Earth's system and socioeconomic trends that ramped up exponentially beginning around 1950. Particularly notable is how as primary energy use increased, the levels of carbon dioxide in the atmosphere saw an analogous increase. (Steffen et al., 2015a)



Figure 1.3. Earth systems and socioeconomic trends between 1750 and 2010 (Steffen et al., 2015a)

Initially, the understanding that anthropogenic forces were directly causing environmental degradation was known mostly by scientists, and thus, the domination attitude remained virtually unquestioned. However, the work of scientists laid the foundation for environmental artists, philosophers, and other activists to translate these scientific findings into a language acknowledged and understood by the general public. In the United States, these activists and their supporters began to directly challenge the general attitude that it is permissible for humans to dominate the natural environment. (Kemp, 2004)

One of the most famous environmental activists in the United States is Rachel Carson, who was said to be "the single most effective catalyst for environmentalism," mobilizing American opinion on environmental conservation. (McNeil, 2001, p. 337) In her book *Silent Spring*, published in 1962, Carson exposed the United States' use of pesticides and their effects on the environment. She wrote descriptively to reveal the interconnected relationship between human activity and the natural environment. (Carson, 1962) Carson's early role in activism seemed to be a liaison between the scientific and harsh realities of environmental degradation, and the generally then-inattentive public.

Beyond the work of Rachel Carson and other activists, anthropogenic environmental degradation was becoming more apparent to the general public because the visible evidence was emerging, and it was increasingly difficult to dismiss. Air pollution, especially in congested cities, could be seen by the bare eye. (Kemp, 2004) Three million gallons of crude oil spilled into the Pacific Ocean during the Santa Barbara oil spill in 1969, causing a thirty-five-mile oil slick off California's coast, turning beaches black, and killing thousands of birds, fish, and sea mammals. (Hamilton, 2019) Also, in 1969, the Cuyahoga River in Cleveland, Ohio, caught fire for the eleventh time, resulting not only in the death of the fish and animals that depended on it but \$50,000 worth of damage to infrastructure, which is equivalent to about \$377,000 today.

(Folger, 2019) The smog-filled skies, black beaches, and burning rivers encouraged humans to challenge the domination attitude. A formal movement soon followed.

The Modern Environmental Movement

During the Modern Environmental Movement, a collective group of scientific, social, and political actors explicitly and formally challenged the attitude that humans ought to dominate the natural environment for human benefit. The "Modern Environmental Movement" refers specifically to the collective efforts taken to protect the environment from 1968 to 1976. As Robert Collins suggests in his book *More: The Politics of Economic Growth in Postwar America,* the 1970s was when humans first began to think of the Earth as having "limits." (Collins, 2000) Other scholars, too, have written about how the 1970s was the first period in which humans vastly acknowledged how the physical environment might set limits to the expansion of human activity. (Nordhaus, 1992)

The first wave of the Modern Environmental Movement focused primarily on pollution abatement, despite some anomalies including Arne Naess who founded the concept of "Deep Ecology" and called for environmental reform more comprehensive than just pollution abatement. (Naess, 2005) Nonetheless, many of the environmental groups that emerged and grew during this first wave, like Greenpeace and the Sierra Club, mainly publicized issues associated specifically with pollution far and wide. (Hill, 1969) In the United States especially, because of the resulting public pressure, many industrial institutions revealed their contribution to pollution. The federal government also succumbed to this public pressure and released information about pollution levels and other environmental conditions. (Kemp, 2004) In 1966, the first list of endangered species was created and publicized in the 1966 Endangered Species Preservation Act. This list contained seventy-nine species, including the Bald Eagle. (US Fish and Wildlife Service, 1967) America's national symbol was directly threatened by American activity, underscoring the faults of the American environmental attitude.

Political actors followed the concern of the public and incorporated environmental protection agendas into their campaigns, which slowly but ultimately led to more governmental oversight. In the modern environmental movement, environmental legislation increased with the creation of the National Environmental Policy Act of 1970, the development of the Environmental Protection Agency in 1970, the Clean Water Act of 1972, and more. Also, during this movement, the first "Earth Day" occurred in 1970, and the United States contributed to environmental efforts on an international level at the United Nations Conference on the Human Environment in 1972, where the United Nations Environmental Programme was established. The first wave of the modern environmental movement saw a significantly coherent collaboration of scientific, social, and political actors discounting the domination attitude. (Kemp, 2004)

Toward the end of the 1970s, the modern environmental movement began to lose its momentum. The attitude that humans are permitted to dominate the natural environment became more widely accepted again in the 1980s when Ronald Reagan was elected president. During his candidacy, Reagan argued if humans wanted to abate pollution, their efforts would be best spent regulating pollution sourced from Mount Saint Helens rather than regulating human activity. (Ford, 1980) By dismissing human activity as a severe environmental threat, Reagan opened the door for Americans to revisit the domination attitude. He promised energy expansion, which would lead to economic expansion, and committed to environmental law reform "to ensure that the benefits achieved justify the costs imposed" and that "environmental protection must not be a cover for a 'no-growth policy.'" (Kraft & Vig, 1984, pp. 422-423) In a commencement address

delivered at the University of South Carolina, Reagan explicitly stated, "There are no limits to growth because there are no limits to human creativity." (Reagan, 1983, para. 27) Not only did Reagan's ideology perpetuate the American attitude to dominate the natural environment, but his decisions during his presidency put this attitude into practice.

The Reagan Administration began dismantling the achievements of the modern environmental movement immediately. Reagan selected Anne Gorsuch, a corporate lawyer who opposed the Clean Air Act and other environmental regulations, to lead the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). To work under Gorsuch, Reagan appointed more like-minded individuals, most of whom had more experience in the industries they were responsible for regulating, like Exxon, than experience in government. Reagan reduced EPA staff by 21% between 1981 and 1983, he created a Presidential Task Force on Regulatory Relief to tend to complaints from industry about environmental rules, he assigned industry-aligned scientists to the Science Advisory Board of the EPA, and he removed solar panels from the roof of the White House. (Fredrickson et al., 2018) These, among many other slackened environmental policies and initiatives, enabled Reagan to successfully cut taxes, strengthen the US military, and ultimately improve the quality of life for Americans at the expense of the natural environment.

Despite its interruption, presumably due in large part to Reagan's presidency, the Modern Environmental Movement returned with a second wave between 1986 and 1994. This second wave has been described as a public backlash against the anti-environmentalist Reagan Administration. As a result, the Modern Environmental Movement became much more polarized and politicized, with a clearer divide between environmentalists who mostly challenged the domination attitude and anti-environmentalists who seemed to support the attitude.

In the second wave of the Modern Environmental Movement, environmentalists shifted attention to global forums like the Framework Convention on Climate Change, perhaps due to this polarization and the inadequacy of the defunded EPA. Very rarely did nations make binding commitments at these international conferences; instead, the scientists and politicians who attended drew attention to the comprehensive causes and effects of environmental degradation, such as resource depletion. As a result, the visible pollution that induced the first wave was no longer the only area of focus for the environmentally-minded. The second wave of the Modern Environmental Movement became known for growing awareness of the breadth and complexity of anthropogenic environmental issues. (Kemp, 2004)

Unlike the first, there was no hard stop to the second wave of the Modern Environmental Movement. The second wave of the Modern Environmental Movement did not end in 1994 and instead transitioned into the Contemporary Environmental Movement.

The Contemporary Environmental Movement

The Contemporary Environmental Movement began around 1996 and continues into the present day. Similar to the Modern Environmental Movement, more legislation addressing air, water, and toxic waste pollution has been passed during the Contemporary Environmental Movement in the United States. In addition, the United States joined other countries in international agreements like the Kyoto Protocol and the Paris Agreement, making loose commitments to reduce greenhouse gas emissions. Although these actions move away from the problem of environmental degradation, they hardly move toward a preventative solution. (Hansen, 2007)

One of the most important distinctions between the Modern Environmental Movement and the Contemporary Environmental Movement is that the Modern Environmental Movement directly challenged the attitude that humans are permitted to dominate the natural environment to maximize benefits to humanity while the Contemporary Environmental Movement, in part, revisits and employs this attitude. This is not to say that there are no challengers of the environmental attitude in the Contemporary Environmental Movement; some of those who oppose the domination attitude in the Contemporary Environmental Movement are labeled as "ecocentric environmentalists." Some of these actors are known to advocate for the preservation of the environment, believing that nature is inherently valuable and humans are not permitted to dominate the natural environment to maximize human benefit.

Aggressive environmentalists maintain a similar ideology to ecocentric environmentalists, largely rejecting human domination and treating the natural environment with respect to its inherent value. Unlike ecocentric environmentalists, aggressive environmentalists take direct, often physically threatening actions to preserve the natural environment. (Kemp, 2004) Aggressive environmentalists, who are also referred to as radical environmentalists, take part in various strong actions such as spiking trees with metal rods to prevent deforestation and sinking or damaging ships to impede whaling. (Alberro, 2018)

Different from both ecocentric and aggressive environmentalists, the "technocentric environmentalist" population emerged during the Contemporary Environmental Movement. These actors believe a successful approach to mitigate anthropogenic forces is through the advancement of technology to achieve sustainable development. Because of an increase in innovation, technocentric environmentalists have developed renewable energy technologies like solar, onshore wind, offshore wind, and nuclear power.

Further, technocentric environmentalists have developed alternative solutions to environmental degradation, including carbon capturing and geoengineering. These technologies intervene with and manipulate the natural environment to either reduce increasing climate temperatures or remove pollutants, mainly carbon, from the atmosphere. (Temple, 2019) Through these developments, whether consciously or not, technocentric environmentalists are seeking to dominate the environment to improve the quality of human life, but seek to do so to achieve sustainability. The domination attitude, which is a primary source of environmental degradation, seems to have become part of some technocentric environmentalists' solution.

During the Modern and Contemporary Environmental Movements, people formally challenged the environmental attitude that humans are permitted to dominate the natural environment. Yet, the Modern and Contemporary Environmental Movements both saw the worst environmental degradation the world had experienced up until their time, which also continued to worsen in the years that followed. (Refer back to Figure 1.3) Perhaps the Modern and Contemporary Environmental movements both failed to adequately address the largest and longest contributor to environmental degradation: human-developed provisioning systems and the domination attitude by which they accompanied.

Beginning in prehistoric times and continuing into the present day, the domination attitude and provisioning systems have been intimately intertwined. For example, artificial water distribution systems that were developed during agrarian civilizations, crop rotation systems that were developed during the Agricultural Revolution, and consumer culture that was developed during the Industrial Revolution are all examples of provisioning systems that employ the domination attitude.

The domination attitude and all the provisioning systems which it accompanies ultimately constitute a paradigm, or worldview under which humans abide. As will be discussed in Chapter 2: Paradigm Shift, the current, prominent paradigm is no longer sufficient, leading humanity toward irreversible environmental degradation, and a shift in the current paradigm shift is one solution to diverting this trajectory.

Chapter 2:

Paradigm Shift

The current, prominent paradigm is expected to cause irreversible environmental degradation, but a shift in this paradigm could divert this trajectory. (Great Transition Network, 2021) To achieve this paradigm shift, humans must abandon the foundational attitude that the Earth can be dominated, pursue a more harmonious relationship with the environment, and restructure present-day provisioning systems so they become more environmentally sustainable. In early human history and for centuries after, the attitude to dominate the natural environment and the provisioning systems it accompanied did not have global and long-term impacts on the Earth. This insignificant environmental impact resulted because of two main reasons: population growth and the emergence of revolutionary lifestyles.

Population Growth

First, in early human history and for some centuries after, there were far fewer humans than there are today. In the ancient past, specifically in 10,000 BCE, the human population was estimated to be about four million. From the ancient past until 1700, the human population grew by about 0.04% each year, reaching about 600 million in 1700. However, by 1800, the human

population grew about 0.5% annually to reach about one billion and has been growing exponentially since. Figure 2.1 illustrates these trends.



Figure 2.1. Growth rate and total population of the Earth over the last 12,000 years. (Roser et al., 2019)

Although the growth rate has been slowing in recent decades and is expected to continue slowing in the future, the total population of people on Earth continues to grow. This means there will continue to be more people living on Earth than there have ever been in history. For example, in total, nearly 108 billion people have ever lived on Earth, and today's population makes up 6.5% of that total. (Roser et al., 2019) With this increase in population comes an increase in demand for natural resources as well as additional stress on ecological systems, like using an abundance of water for industrial, agricultural, or domestic purposes and disrupting the hydrologic cycle. Even though population growth is slowing, the total population is exceeding the ability of the Earth to support it. (Roser et al., 2019)

Revolutionary Lifestyles

The second reason the environmental attitude and the provisioning systems it accompanied had an insignificant impact on the environment in early history is that until around the Agricultural Revolution, the types of activities humans employed were slow in growth. Prior to the Agricultural Revolution, human activity was evolutionary rather than revolutionary, which means that human activity was changing and expanding very slowly over successive generations. (Kemp, 2004) During these times, humans passed down their way of life, and each generation adopted it, slightly improving this way of life but making few, if any, major changes. However, since the Agricultural Revolution, especially due to the emergence of technology, humans have been continuously developing and deploying new, more environmentally demanding practices. A rudimentary example of this in recent history includes the invention of cars, which expanded to become trucks, which then expanded to become tractor-trailers. Much of these new inventions either require additional natural resources or add an additional strain to the ecological systems, like these vehicles emitting carbon dioxide and interfering with the carbon cycle. This rapidgrowing activity is perhaps more relevant to the need for a paradigm shift than the number of people that populate the planet. More people on Earth does lead to more of an ecological impact; however, the way these people live is likely more damaging.

The Anthropocene

The combination of both large population sizes and extreme, expansive activity has, in part, led to what some consider the "Anthropocene." While Eugene Stoermer first coined the concept in the 1980s, it was not widely popularized until the early 2000s particularly due to the

publication of scientist Paul Crutzen. Stoermer, Crutzen, and other scholars agree that humaninduced planet-scale impacts, or environmental degradation, was so severe and of such a long duration that it ought to be classified within its own epoch in the geologic time scale called the Anthropocene. (Crutzen, 2006) This new, proposed epoch is thought to have begun in 1950. (National Geographic, n.d.)

Scientists across the world have been determining the extent of these planet-scale impacts and whether the Earth can sustain humans. In other words, scientists are determining whether humans are living within planetary boundaries. Illustrated in Figure 2.2, one group of European researchers categorize planetary boundaries into nine areas: climate change, novel entities, stratospheric ozone depletion, atmospheric aerosol loading, ocean acidification, biogeochemical flows, freshwater use, land-system changes, and biodiversity integrity. The researchers include rings that indicate three zones: beyond uncertainty (high-risk zone), uncertainty (increasing risk zone), and below boundary (safe zone).

In their most recent study, these researchers concluded that humans reside in the zone of uncertainty (increasing risk) for climate change and land system change. They also concluded that humans reside in the beyond zone of uncertainty (high risk) for biosphere integrity, more specifically, genetic diversity which "ultimately determines the potential for life to continue to coevolve with the abiotic component of the Earth system in the most resilient way possible," and "provides the long-term capacity of the biosphere to persist under and adapt to abrupt and gradual abiotic change." (Steffen et al., 2015b, p. 5) Humans also reside in the beyond zone of uncertainty (high risk) for biochemical flows, specifically phosphorus and nitrogen, meaning there are excess in the environment and "the ratios between [these and other] elements in the environment may have impacts on biodiversity on land and in the sea." (Steffen et al., 2015b, p.

6). This study is just one of many conducted by scientists that determine the extent to which human activity affects the natural environment.



Figure 2.2. Human influence on a select group of planetary boundaries. (Steffen et al., 2015b)

Humans are feeling the effects of this today. Food scarcity, biodiversity extinction, frequent and intense wildfires, and social inequity are only a few effects of the exceedance of safe zones for planetary boundaries. (Robertson, 2021) If current provisioning systems continue as they are, these effects are expected to only worsen for future generations. The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), which is the United Nations (UN) body of scientists who assess climate change, estimates that humans have nine years to make major changes to their lifestyles. If major lifestyle changes are not made, humans will likely see a global temperature increase of 1.5 degrees Celsius above the pre-industrial temperature level by 2030. The IPCC clarifies that every fraction of a degree of increasing temperatures leads closer to "tipping points," which is when even a minor activity can cross a critical threshold and lead to a large response of accelerated and irreversible environmental degradation. An increase of 1.5 degrees Celsius would likely exceed highly dangerous tipping points that threaten all life. An example of an impending tipping point includes the melting of the West Antarctic ice sheet, which would lead to an eleven-foot increase in sea-level rise, threatening marine life and coastal communities. (Davies, 2020) The IPCC suggests that the consequences of tipping points should be included when planning for future development because of the high likelihood that they will continue to occur. (Levin et al., 2021)

According to studies conducted by the IPCC, this 1.5 degrees Celsius increase in global temperatures is not inevitable, although they claim it will definitely be exceeded in the twenty-first century if greenhouse gasses continue to be emitted at the current rate. (Working Group, 2021) However, studies conclude that this 1.5-degree Celsius increase can only be avoided if humans make "transformational change." One recommendation from the IPCC includes redefining the production and use of energy, land, and other natural resources. (Levin et al., 2021) Likewise, the United Nations (UN) goes further by claiming the solution requires "fundamental structural changes" in values, norms, consumer culture, and more. (United Nations Environmental Programme, 2019) The IPCC's suggested "transformational change" can be understood as a paradigm shift.

As previously discussed, the attitude that it is permissible for humans to dominate the Earth is intertwined with provisioning systems. At its core, perhaps the domination attitude takes some responsibility for humans exceeding planetary boundaries, nearing tipping points, and ultimately causing irreversible environmental degradation. The UN and its IPCC urge the restructuring of provisioning systems so that humans can sustain, rather than dominate, the

natural environment. The general consensus among the thousands of scientists who comprise the UN and IPCC is that there is a need for a paradigm shift.

Scientists from the Great Transition Network constructed a "Taxonomy of the Future," where they imagined three channels, including "conventional worlds," "barbarization," and "great transitions." They also imagined six possible global scenarios that could result from these channels. The UN and its IPCC are calling for something similar to the Great Transition Network "great transitions" channel, which they describe as "reform to embrace new values and institutions in pursuit of a just, fulfilling, and sustainable civilization." (Great Transition Network, 2021, para. 5) The global scenarios that result from the "great transitions" channel include "eco-communalism" and a "new paradigm." In an "eco-communalism" global scenario, bio-regionalism, localism, face-to-face democracy, small technology, and self-reliant economies are all prioritized and incorporated in what they call a green vision. In a new paradigm world scenario, global citizenship, humanity-as-whole, the wider web of life, and the well-being of future generations constitute a new environmental attitude, and globalization is used to construct a planetary civilization that operates in accordance with earth science. (Great Transition Network, 2021) Perhaps the main takeaway from these two scenarios is that climate and social scientists are arguing that humanity likely cannot reach a sustainable, non-environmentally degrading human civilization through the employment of the domination attitude, but instead through a foundational shift in environmental attitude.

Adhering to the UN and IPCC's recommendations or embracing the Great Transition Network's "great transitions" channel to achieve a paradigm shift is no small feat. Present-day provisioning systems have been strategically engineered into American society. For decades, policies and laws have been bolstering these provisioning systems while marketing and media

have been cultivating a deep dependence on them. (Assadourian, 2013) Also, there are many vested interests in present-day provisioning systems that have strong reasons to oppose their restructuring. For example, to decarbonize the atmosphere, humans must regulate one major provisioning system: non-renewable energy infrastructure. While incentives and subsidies can assist, it is probable that humans will also impose strict caps on carbon emissions, ban new coalfired power plants, and close fossil fuel extraction projects. (Klein, 2011) Those involved in the non-renewable energy sector would be burdened with a loss of capital gain, investment depreciation, and job loss if this restructuring were to occur. However, soon, humanity is expected to face much larger, crueler burdens if humans choose not to restructure provisioning systems willingly. When environmental conditions worsen, the Earth will no longer be able to support provisioning systems' demands, which will perhaps force humanity to lead a lesscontrolled transition toward a more sustainable paradigm. Just as alarmingly, as the IPCC concluded, these provisioning systems push humanity toward tipping points which are already resulting in accelerated and irreversible environmental degradation and dangerous and costly consequences like thick air pollution, which exacerbates asthma, storms that demolish entire communities, and more.

Considering this trajectory, achieving a paradigm shift by abandoning the foundational attitude that the Earth can be dominated, pursuing a harmonious relationship with the environment, and restructuring provisions systems grows increasingly more crucial. Achieving this paradigm shift requires many changes to be made in society, likely including restructuring the economy, changing culture, improving international relations, and more. However, especially given the obstacles of bolstering policies, media reinforcement, and vested interests, improvement to primary and secondary environmental education offers great potential to achieve
this paradigm shift. Improved environmental education will equip future generations with the tools, skills, and desire needed to lead the transition to a sustainable paradigm.

Part II:

Environmental Education

Chapter 3:

Environmental Education

A paradigm shift requires foundational changes in every sector of society. There are many, but one of the most important foundational changes necessary to achieve a paradigm shift is reform to primary and secondary environmental education. In the United States of America, present-day environmental education, or lack thereof, is insufficient because it perpetuates unsustainable provisioning systems, fails to equip learners with necessary skills, and disconnects students from the Earth. Three areas of environmental education reform that will address these insufficiencies include ecological literacy, critical thinking, and place-based and experiential learning in the primary and secondary education system.

Ecological Literacy

The first insufficiency of current environmental education is that it perpetuates unsustainable provisioning systems. Primary and secondary education today generally prepares students to be successful in the world that already exists. This education system provides learners with the tools and knowledge needed to navigate both the physical and social realities of the present day. Students are encouraged to seek specialized skills that will eventually place them in a singular, niche corner of society. However, these niche corners of society, which in part constitute provisioning systems, typically do not prioritize environmental limits and are often exploitative of the Earth's resources. An example of this may include the health care profession. (Eckelman & Sherman, 2016) The reason there is a lack of regard for the environment across professions is not the subject of focus but is the cause of many factors, possibly including the environmental attitude discussed in Chapter 1: Environmental Attitude: Domination. Ultimately the current primary and secondary education system is preparing students to enter into unsustainable provisioning systems. (Assadourian, 2017a) As discussed in Chapter 2, these are the very provisioning systems that climate scientists claim are leading to a cruel and uninhabitable world. One approach to restructuring unsustainable provisioning systems is to include ecological literacy in primary and secondary education. Ecological literacy will prepare students with the knowledge and skills to create more sustainable provisioning systems, rather than perpetuate the unsustainable provisioning systems of the present day.

Critical Thinking

The second insufficiency of present-day primary and secondary environmental education is that it fails to equip learners with the skills needed for them to manage already impending environmental degradation and resulting threats. Many educators today are "teaching to test," meaning they teach certain curricula, usually barebone, which are designed to prepare students for standardized or other tests. This "teach to test" model decreases students' excitement and motivation to learn. More alarmingly, because of the weighty emphasis on test scores under this model, students are more prone to memorize and reiterate rather than understand, absorb, and evaluate the information they are taught. (J. L. Styron & R. A. Styron, 2012) Memorization and reiteration, on their own, are hardly valuable skills in a world that demands creative solutions because of rapid and relentless environmental threats. Learners must have the skills to recognize

and respond to these threats, as well as challenge their causes - which are mostly current unsustainable provisioning systems. Like ecological literacy, they will also be better equipped to create sustainable provisioning systems. One way to foster these skills is by improving critical thinking education.

Place-Based and Experiential Learning

The third insufficiency of education today is that it disconnects students from the Earth. The current primary and secondary education system mostly confines learners to a classroom, depriving them of outdoor activity and inundating them with technology use. (Assadourian, 2017b) Also, present-day primary and secondary environmental education is often irrelevant and far distant from most students. Commonly, present-day environmental education does not directly affect the lives of the students being taught. (Nijhuis, 2011) Students must be connected with the natural environment, especially the local natural environment. They must spend time directly outdoors, exploring, discovering, and even playing, to be reminded of how it relates to their daily lives. Exposure to the outdoors, especially for early learners, has been proven to cultivate long-term curiosity for the natural environment, and through hands-on activities, the capability to protect it. (Robertson, 2021, p. 426)

Environmental education as a whole is a crucial component of a paradigm shift. There are many additional areas of environmental educational reform, such as addressing the issue of classroom overcrowding and increasing salaries for educators, among other areas. However, implementing environmental education that emphasizes ecological literacy, critical thinking, and place-based and experiential learning into present-day primary and secondary education curricula is an effective approach to initiating a paradigm shift. These three areas are the topic of focus,

not only because they are feasible in today's education climate, but because they are mutually complementary, as the practice of strengthening skills in one topic of focus often inadvertently strengthens skills in another.

Chapter 4:

Ecological Literacy

Defining Ecological Literacy

Ecological literacy is a concept that measures one's understanding of both Earth's basic ecological functions and the degree to which humans interfere with these functions. The Center for Ecoliteracy is one of many nonprofit organizations that leads initiatives, publishes resources, hosts conferences, and provides consulting to assist schools in expanding environmental education. The Center for Ecoliteracy does this with a specific focus on integrating ecological literacy into primary and secondary curricula. As one of the United States' most recognized organizations that specializes in this discipline, the Center for Ecoliteracy claims that ecological literacy lies at the junction of two measures: Earth-centric learning and the study of sustainability. (Assadourian, 2017a)

Earth-centric learning. Earth-centric learning is meant to cultivate learners who view the world from an environmental perspective. First, Earth-centric learners gain a basic scientific understanding of ecology, which is the study of organisms' interactions with themselves and their physical environments. It also includes the study of natural ecological processes like weather patterns, ocean functions, the carbon and hydrogen cycles, and more. Second, Earth-centric learners examine which current human-created physical and social systems affect these ecological functions. (Center for Ecological Literacy, 2021) As described in Chapter 1:

Environmental Attitude: Domination, these human-created physical and social systems are otherwise known as provisioning systems.

The Study of Sustainability. The study of sustainability is meant to encourage learners to create a society that aligns with ecological functions so humans ultimately live within the Earth's bounds. When studying sustainability, learners first examine the ways in which society, including provisioning systems, are or can be threatening to ecological functions. Second, learners are taught about how provisioning systems can potentially continue long term and without interruption only if they are oriented to work in tandem with, rather than exploitative of ecological functions. Finally, learners create ideas to restructure provisioning systems so that they are not threatening ecological functions. (Baird, 2020) To restructure provisioning systems, learners are taught about the concept of "systems thinking." (Robertson, 2021)

In systems thinking, a system is considered an arrangement of parts that create a whole that is larger than merely the sum of its parts. To be a system, the parts as a whole fulfill a specific purpose. Also, to be a system, each part must be interconnected and interdependent, meaning any significant change to one part will inevitably affect another. The specific arrangement of parts is what enables the system to operate and fulfill its purpose optimally. Therefore, to be considered a system, all parts must be present. If you are able to remove one part from something without interrupting its operations, then it is not a system but instead just a collection of parts. A vehicle can be easily understood as a system. If one was to analyze the parts of a vehicle, it would be clear that each part is arranged specifically in a way that enables the vehicle to be driven from one location to another. Furthermore, with any system, if one was to disassemble the parts of a vehicle, it would not fulfill its purpose and no longer be considered a vehicle. (Kim, 2018)

Systems thinking considers the physical Earth a system. However, like other non-human created systems, the purpose of the Earth as a system is difficult to determine and perhaps is not as determinant as that of a vehicle. Because of the inability to determine the purpose of the Earth as a system, it is difficult to determine how human interactions affect the system's parts and operations. Additionally, humans have attributed their own purpose to Earth as a system. (Kim, 2018) As discussed in Chapter 1: Environmental Attitude: Domination, beginning as early as the ancient past and remaining through the present day, many humans maintain the attitude that it is permissible to dominate the environment. Essentially, it can be argued that humans have assigned the Earth's purpose - that it is permissible to benefit humans by the means of domination, respectively.

Through systems thinking, learners focus on the specific arrangement of each part of the system or each ecological function to better gauge, but not assign, a more ecological purposiveness of the Earth as a system - rather than accepting that part of Earth's purpose is to benefit humans. Learners also focus on how human interactions, through provisioning systems, disrupt the arrangement of parts and ultimately threaten the Earth's ecological functionality, or ability to maintain equilibrium. Ultimately, in system thinking, learners view the Earth as a comprehensive whole, reject assigning the natural environment a determinant purpose, and learn to restructure provisioning systems in a way that enables the Earth as a system to continue maintaining equilibrium. (Seibert, 2018)

The main objective of ecological literacy is to prepare students with the knowledge and skills needed to create sustainable provisioning systems, rather than integrate into and perpetuate already-existing unsustainable provisioning systems. Ecological literacy achieves this through two measures: Earth-centric learning, which gives learners a scientific understanding of Earth's

natural ecological functions, and the study of sustainability, which gives learners the ability to understand the Earth as a system, and thus restructure provisioning systems so they work harmoniously with each part of the Earth that constitutes this system.

Ecological Literacy in the Current Education System

Without ecological literacy, as mentioned in Chapter 3: Environmental Education, it is likely that current primary and secondary education will continue perpetuating unsustainable provisioning systems. This is not to say that higher education does not do the same, but specifically in primary and secondary education, students are being groomed into these provisioning systems. Primary and secondary education students are taught about the world that already exists and are first beginning to learn how to be successful in that world. Ultimately, the primary and secondary education system lays the foundation for students to eventually integrate and participate in the unsustainable provisioning systems of our current society. However, as discussed in Chapter 3, scientists make it clear that the Earth cannot continue to sustain the already-existing society and its unsustainable provisioning systems. One approach to restructuring unsustainable provisioning systems is to include ecological literacy in primary and secondary education.

However, ecological literacy in the present-day primary and secondary education system is scant. According to a study conducted by Earth Day Network, which analyzed the implementation of environmental education in thirty-five countries across the globe, the United States and other developed countries fail to successfully implement environmental education mainly due to government structure and the economy. (Ritchie et al., 2016)

Government structure as an obstacle. In the United States, state and federal governments have shared regulatory power over the education system. The states retain the most control over school districts' standards and policies and the curriculum that is taught. (Schonrock et al., 2018) However, the federal government mandates equal access to public education, appropriates federal funds, and makes other overarching decisions about the broad education system of the United States. (Pelsue, 2021) The federal government's overarching decision about environmental education is that ecological literacy is encouraged but not required to be integrated into the primary and secondary education system. (Ritchie et al., 2016)

To encourage the integration of ecological literacy in states' education systems, the United States Congress passed the National Environmental Education Act (NEEA) in 1990, which required the United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) to "provide national leadership to increase environmental literacy." The EPA sought to achieve this by establishing the Office of Environmental Education (OEE). (National Environmental Education Act, 1990) The OEE is meant to implement national leadership on environmental education, which includes ecological literacy. The OEE's goal is "to establish and support a program of education on the environment, for students and personnel working with students, through activities in schools, institutions of higher education, and related educational activities, and to encourage postsecondary students to pursue careers related to the environment." (National Environmental Education Act, 1990) In other words, the OEE is responsible for providing federal, state, and local education departments with resources to expand environmental education across the United States.

There are multiple nongovernmental and nonprofit organizations and agencies that are partly funded through the OEE. These organizations and agencies guide state and local education

departments with their approach to expanding environmental education. For example, the North American Association of Environmental Education (NAAEE) is a nonprofit organization that helps state and local education departments create an Environmental Literacy Plan (ELP). Each ELP addresses which content areas ought to be taught, establishes skill training programs for teachers, creates a method for the department of education to measure the environmental literacy of students, and outlines a roadmap for funding, implementation, and execution, among many other considerations. The goal of each ELP is to cultivate "environmentally literate" students. Because students of ELPs have "knowledge and understanding of a wide range of environmental concepts, problems, and issues" and "apply such knowledge and understanding to make sound and effective decisions in a range of environmental contexts," environmental literacy and ecological literacy seem to be one and the same. (Bodor et al., 2009, p. 3)

The most recent State ELP Status Report from the NAAEE shows significant involvement from states, with only four states that have not drafted ELPs, thirteen states that are in the process of drafting their ELPs, thirteen states that are awaiting the adoption of their ELPs, one state that has adopted but not yet implemented their ELP, and nineteen states, as well as Washington DC, that have almost fully adopted and implemented their ELPs. (Bodor et al., 2009)

Even though most states are actively working on expanding environmental education with the support of federal government-provided resources, the federal government has instituted policies that usually have a greater influence, compared to the state's influence, over the state's actions. These policies affect the extent to which states expand environmental education. For example, the United States Congress passed an amendment to the No Child Left Behind Act (NCLB) in 2007. The NCLB measures students' performance based on standardized tests,

specifically in core subjects which include reading, mathematics, and science. States have a large role in determining which subjects are to be tested. A state might not consider ecological literacy to be a "core science" to help narrow science testing requirements and ultimately improve their test scores. (American Geosciences Institute, 2021) One could assume this is an unintended consequence of the NCLB, but nonetheless, it is a reoccurring, significant obstacle preventing the successful implementation of ecological literacy in primary and secondary education.

The economy as an obstacle. The United States' economic system remains another barrier to the successful integration of ecological literacy into primary and secondary curricula. Although states receive some federal funding, most funding for education systems comes from state or local resources. (Chen, 2021) The scarcity of resources in certain socioeconomic areas of the country influences each public school district's operations. Furthermore, some states leave regulatory and management decisions directly to public school districts. Public school districts that are run by the local school board are often dependent on their community's tax revenue. Again, because revenue is scarce in certain areas, cultural and local values also influence the operations of public schools. (Ritchie et al., 2016) Economic obstacles remain a significant barrier to states and school districts expanding environmental education. Earth Day Network's study notes that environmental education fails to be implemented in developed countries across the globe, including the United States, due to "a strong trend of governments not successfully supporting its education system or impeding its success by underpaying teachers, not providing resources for mandated programs, and not equally distributing resources across the nation." (Ritchie et al., 2016)

Reform to Ecological Literacy in the Current Education System

To successfully implement ecological literacy into the primary and secondary education system, pressure and support need to be felt from both the federal and grassroots levels. First, there must be a top-down, federal government mandate that, at the very least, requires ecological literacy to be considered a core science and included in primary and secondary environmental curricula. There must be other significant reforms to the NCLB and the standardized tests it requires, which will be further discussed in Chapter 5: Critical Thinking.

The federal government should also provide support so it is feasible for school districts to include ecological literacy as a core science in primary and secondary curricula. For example, the No Child Left Inside Act (NCLI) was introduced to the United States Congress in 2008. The NCLI proposed that teachers be trained appropriately to instruct environmental education, including ecological literacy. The NCLI also proposed that the federal government provide technology to assist teachers with this instruction and that the effectiveness of environmental education programs be routinely monitored and improved when necessary. In 2008, the NCLI passed the House of Representatives but not the Senate. (No Child Left Inside Act, 2008) The NCLI should be amended to address the concern that it imposes "special interest-driven beliefs" on children, which was a large reason why it did not pass the Senate in 2008. (Penny, 2009) Second, grassroots support, such as a strong network of activists, can help ensure school districts integrate ecological literacy into the curriculum. If the local communities pressure the school districts to include ecological literacy into the curriculum, then even in the case of scarce resources, school districts are less likely to reduce instruction on ecological literacy. (Bodor et al., 2009)

Ecological literacy, or one's understanding of both Earth's basic ecological processes and the degree to which humans interfere with these processes, must be integrated into the primary and secondary education system so learners can be prepared to create sustainable provisioning systems after having gained an ecological perspective and an understanding of systems thinking. Without ecological literacy, learners are likely to continue perpetuating current unsustainable provisioning systems. By continuing these unsustainable provisions systems, humanity will maintain the domination attitude and thus, will be hard-pressed to achieve a sustainable paradigm.

Chapter 5:

Critical Thinking

Defining Critical Thinking

Critical thinking, broadly understood, is the process of synthesizing and analyzing information then applying original ideas to reach a conclusion regarding what to believe or how to behave. Critical thinking, an abstract concept, has no uniform definition but many varying interpretations consider an effective critical thinker to demonstrate a collection of the same skills. The California Department of Education groups the most prominent of these skills into three categories. The first category, "defining and clarifying the problem," includes skills like observing, comparing, contrasting, grouping, labeling, categorizing, classifying, ordering, patterning, and prioritizing. The second category, "judging information related to the problem," includes analyzing questions, distinguishing between facts and opinion, determining the relevance and reliability of information, inferring, understanding meanings, observing cause and effect, making predictions, analyzing assumptions, and identifying points of view. Finally, the third category, "solving problems/drawing conclusions," includes logical reasoning, creative thinking, and problem-solving. (Costa, 1985)

Educators have accredited critical thinking as a valuable skill in all of modern history; however, it is increasingly important in today's world - one that is rapidly and relentlessly changing due to environmental threats. (Willingham, 2019) Today's changing world demands

humans to recognize and respond to environmental threats. Humans must apply original, new ideas, or rethink and appropriate old ideas to new contexts to manage the already-existing and emerging challenges associated with the adverse effects of these threats, like severe storms, rising sea levels, extreme food insecurity, and other conditions that interrupt life as it is today. Also, humans must look ahead at the trajectory of these environmental threats and their adverse effects. To prevent the catastrophic, life-threatening environmental conditions that are to come, humans must challenge their causes. These causes, which are predominately unsustainable provisioning systems, must be restructured to operate more sustainably. The ability to observe, compare, classify, prioritize, make predictions, reason logically, and utilize other critical thinking skills is necessary for humans to effectively recognize and respond to the causes and adverse effects of environmental threats. Ultimately, critical thinking enables humans to reach conclusions about how to address existing and impending environmental threats and restructure current unsustainable provisioning systems to create a more sustainable world.

Critical thinking is not only important for environmental protection but also for everyday human functioning across all populations. Those of all cultures, ages, genders, and more use critical thinking skills daily to make decisions, answer complex problems, understand themselves and others, communicate, and more. Critical thinking skills have been noted to improve one's level of curiosity, creativity, and ability to think and act independently. Critical thinking is so axillary to human functioning it has been considered by educators "a skill for life, not just learning." (Crockett, 2021)

Although there is a general consensus among educators and cognitive scientists that critical thinking skills are of value to the learner, there are conflicting ideas around the approach to successfully cultivating these skills. Thus, similar to how there is no uniform definition, there

is no uniform, evidence-based approach to teaching critical thinking. (Barshay, 2019) Cognitive psychologist Daniel T. Willingham explores the idea that "Learning to think critically is akin to learning language as an infant. In a language-rich environment and with frequent situations where it is useful, the child will learn to use language without any formal instruction. Perhaps, in the same way, you learn about critical thinking based on what's available to you in the environment." He states that, unlike the language, there is not enough nor the appropriate emphasis on critical thinking skills in a learner's environment, and thus, school programs that teach critical thinking skills are inevitably and unsurprisingly seeing little success. (Willingham, 2019)

Critical Thinking in the Current Education System

The present-day primary and secondary education system fails to equip learners with critical thinking skills for a variety of reasons; however, two major reasons include the teacher-centered, rather than student-centered, classroom structure and the "teach to test" model.

Teacher-centered classroom structure. A teacher-centered primary and secondary education classroom is a traditional classroom setting where a teacher instructs, and the students passively receive the information that is being instructed. Students typically work independently and must ask permission before speaking. This structure is usually in place for the majority of the school day. In a student-centered classroom, which is sometimes referred to as a "learner-centered classroom," the educator's role is to facilitate but not dictate instruction. In a student-centered classroom, content instruction involves students moving, speaking, cooperating, and collaborating freely with each other to discuss and grasp the subject being taught. (Megwalu, 2014)

A teacher-centered classroom structure prevents students from developing many crucial skills, especially critical thinking skills. A teacher-centered classroom allows for little, if any, collaboration among students because there is a heavy focus on the teacher's instruction of the content. These classrooms also prevent students from communicating effectively, given they have limited time to speak and they mostly speak only to the teacher rather than among their peers. Additionally, because in a teacher-centered classroom, there is typically one instructor and one method of instruction, which is verbal instruction, a student might grow bored throughout the school day. (Lathan, n.d.) A student who finds instruction to be boring is likely to become disengaged. Even the most intellectual students can become disengaged, as studies indicate disengagement is not a reflection of academic ability. (Mora, 2011) A student-centered classroom, in opposition, presents students with the opportunity to develop critical thinking skills because there is an emphasis on learner engagement and activity during instruction. The learner works in groups, explores simulations, debates with peers, and completes other active tasks. (Howe & Warren, 1989) Additionally, a student-centered classroom is dynamic, which helps students stay engaged throughout the day.

"Teach to test" model. The second reason the education system fails to equip learners with critical thinking skills is the "teach to test" model. The "teach to test" model is an approach to education where teachers design the instruction of curriculum in a way that specifically prepares students to perform well on standardized or other tests. In practice, an educator may repetitively teach simple, very specific content that is later tested. Under this model, teachers narrow the curriculum only to what will be tested and often fail to instill a comprehensive understanding of the subject in their students. (Copp, 2018)

The "teach to test" model did not emerge from unqualified and unskilled educators; the model primarily emerged due to increasing emphasis on standardized tests to measure the effectiveness of school districts, especially after the implementation of the No Child Left Behind Act (NCLB) in 2005. NCLB, which was previously discussed in Chapter 4: Ecological Literacy, instituted failed test-and-punish policies, which allow federal and state departments to fire staff or close schools if students performed poorly on standardized tests. (Crisafulli, 2006) In 2015, President Obama passed the Every Child Succeeds Act which created more flexibility for evaluating the effectiveness of schools; however, standardized tests and failed test-and-punish policies still exist and are enacted today. (Strauss, 2018) Therefore, standardized tests, which are also considered "high-stakes tests," pressure educators to ensure that students perform well. Ultimately, to ensure this performance from students, educators are more inclined to adopt a "teach to test" instruction model.

The "teach to test" model not only fails to cultivate critical thinking skills in learners by failing to teach the necessary skills, but it is an inaccurate measure of evaluating the knowledge of students. Because of the weighty emphasis on test scores, students are more prone to memorize and reiterate rather than understand, absorb, and evaluate the information they are taught. (J. L. Styron & R. A. Styron, 2012) The "teach to test" model also diminishes students' excitement and motivation to learn. The colloquial term "drill and kill," which has been used for decades in the realm of education, describes the process of teaching one skill repetitively enough to essentially "kill" the student's curiosity and interest in learning. (Helwig, 2021)

Reform to Critical Thinking in the Current Education System

Teacher-centered classrooms and the "teach to test" model are partially advantageous and have their place in education settings, but to best cultivate critical thinking skills in learners, these structures should be scaled down in the primary and secondary education system. The teacher-centered classroom can sometimes be beneficial to both students and teachers. For students, a teacher-centered classroom structure allows for clear, direct instruction, which reduces the chances of students missing or misinterpreting content. For teachers, this structure can help keep the classroom controlled and quiet and enable them to move seamlessly from one subject to the next. (Lathan, n.d.) Despite these and other advantages, teacher-centered learning environments should not be the only classroom structure and should be balanced with student-centered learning environments.

The "teach to test" model can also sometimes be beneficial for both students and teachers. A student taught under the "teach to test" model is likely to retain content, prepare, concentrate, manage time, and make educated or intelligent guesses. (Stenlund et al., 2013) For educators, the "teach to test" model helps identify the areas of content in which students struggle. The educator can use this information to reorient their instruction accordingly. (J. Phelan & J. Phelan, 2013) Specifically, preparing students to perform well on tests under the "teach to test" model is not entirely harmful to the efficacy of the education system; however, it should not be teachers' primary method of instruction.

Additionally, returning to Willingham's idea that a student learns critical thinking skills based on what's available to them in their environment, there should be more of an explicit, continuous emphasis on critical thinking skills in schools. Critical thinking skills are not fully learned by students unless they are taught continuously, on an everyday basis. (Howe & Warren,

1989) Other skills, like riding a bicycle, can be taught once and used by the learner for years to follow. Unlike riding a bicycle, multiple studies indicate that critical thinking skills must be taught and practiced repeatedly in order for the learner to retain the skills, similar to the way language must be practiced continuously; otherwise, the learner will likely see a decline in their proficiency in that language. (Willingham, 2007) Therefore, there must be an explicit, continuous emphasis on critical thinking skills in schools. One example of this emphasis in practice would be the incorporation of discussion in everyday instruction. According to educator Sylvia Luise Christiansen at California State University, Northridge, "Discussion, because it provides immediate monitoring and feedback of student thought processes, has been found by research to be effective in teaching critical thinking." (Christiansen, 1985)

Scaling down teacher-centered classrooms and the "teach to test" model, as well as placing explicit, continuous emphasis on the instruction of critical thinking skills, will help students to become better critical thinkers, which will ultimately improve environmental education. As stated earlier in this chapter, learners with critical thinking skills will have a greater capacity to reach conclusions about how to address existing and impending environmental threats, restructure current unsustainable systems and ultimately create a more sustainable world.

Not only will improving critical thinking skills in students be a method to improve environmental education, but one way to teach critical thinking is through environmental education itself. More specifically, ecological literacy can be used as a vehicle to teach critical thinking skills. As listed earlier in this chapter, there are a variety of critical thinking skills categorized into three groups, including "defining and clarifying the problem," "judging information related to the problem," and "solving problems/drawing conclusions." These skills

can be applied to essentially any content area, especially ecological literacy. This is because there is increasing focus and attention directed toward environmental threats across the globe. Scientists, governments, agencies, concerned citizens, and others have their own, often conflicting ideas about how to address and resolve environmental threats. Ecological literacy, which is Earth-centric learning and the study of sustainability, can "provide topics and problems that cut across the school curriculum and can enhance the integration of knowledge, provide real problems that can be studied or simulated, and provide topics and problems that can be adjusted to the developmental levels of students." (Howe & Warren, 1989) Critical thinking and ecological literacy are important independent improvements to environmental education but are also complementary to one another in restructuring unsustainable provisioning systems and ultimately progressing toward a more sustainable paradigm.

Ultimately, improvement in critical thinking education in the primary and secondary education system will enable learners to recognize and respond to the adverse effects and causes of environmental degradation. Improved critical thinking education will help students manage and mitigate already-existing and impending environmental threats, as well as create sustainable provisioning systems. Like with ecological literacy, the creation of sustainable provisioning systems that are more harmonious with, rather than dominant over, the natural environment is necessary to achieve a paradigm shift.

Chapter 6:

Place-Based and Experiential Learning

Defining Place-Based and Experiential Learning

Place-based learning. Placed-based learning is a type of educational instruction where students are immersed in the environment that surrounds them. Educators use these environments to teach content through real-world lessons and examples. The Center for Place-Based Learning and Community Engagement defines place-based learning as an approach to education that "places students in local heritage, cultures, landscapes, opportunities, and experiences and uses these as a foundation for the study of language arts, mathematics, social studies, science and other subjects across the curriculum." (Getting Smart, 2017, p. 2) Place-based learning is practiced at different degrees around the globe.

Place-based learning specifically practiced in the natural environment is important in environmental education because it fosters environmental concern. Place-based learning in natural environments helps build positive, intimate relationships between students and their environment. These relationships, especially when developed early, are the foundation for environmental concern in adults. Similar to how humans are more likely to care for other humans with whom they share an intimate relationship, humans who have an intimate relationship with the environment will be more likely to care for it. This is not a phenomenon based solely on observation and assumption but is supported by scientific research. Biophilia, which translates to "love of life" in the Greek language, is the scientific term that describes the innate human tendency to connect to and care for nature. Multiple studies indicate that humans are born with a predisposition to biophilia, but unless these tendencies are fostered at a young age, an adult person's biophilic tendencies will depreciate. (Robertson, 2021) Therefore, as studies conclude, children and young adults who spend more time immersed in the natural environment are more likely to show strong biophilic tendencies in their adult life. (Halim et al., 2019) Ultimately, place-based education increases one's individual biophilic tendencies, which takes environmental education to a more personal level. As said by educator Jonathan Dawson and ecologist Hugo Oliveria, "The revolution that is required in our educational practice needs to be felt on an embodied level as much as understood cognitively. It can be described as nothing short of bringing the classroom back to life." (Dawson & Oliveria, 2017, p. 217) Place-based education can be demonstrated through wilderness field trips, or in areas with limited resources or accessibility to the wilderness, it can be demonstrated through community gardens or history projects that focus on the natural environments that exist within or near urban areas. Because of its concentration on immersive educational experiences, place-based learning is a method to bring education back to life and can help students embody concern for the Earth.

Experiential learning. Experiential learning is complementary to place-based learning, where students "learn by doing." In practice, the "learn by doing" approach to education entails students engaging in activities, which are usually hands-on, then reflecting on their experience. (Kent State University, n.d.) In environmental education, experiential learning activities typically take place during place-based learning. Some examples of these activities might include fossil hunting, weather-watching, and even creating mock physical and social systems, referred to as provisioning systems, that are more sustainable than those which exist. (University of New

Brunswick, n.d.) Engaging in these activities also fosters critical thinking skills, which as discussed earlier, is an example of how these areas of reform are mutually reinforcing. Experiential learning, like place-based learning, cultivates curious students. Environmental education can be difficult to teach to all students, especially those without an already-existing intimate relationship with the natural environment. As a result, environmental education today is not always directly relevant to the lives of the students being taught and is thus often irrelevant and far distant. An example of this irrelevance includes teaching inner-city students in Birmingham, Alabama, about marine conservation. Marine conservation might not be of interest to these students, especially if they have no previous experience or interaction with the ocean or marine life. (Nijhuis, 2011) A more appropriate alternative might be educating the students on environmental conditions they are more familiar with, like nearby natural wonders including Cheaha Mountain. Because students have heightened concern for the environment through placebased learning, and are engaged and physically interacting with it during experiential learning, students become increasingly aware of how the natural environment is relevant to them and the ways it directly affects their lives. This awareness often drives curiosity.

Experiential learning is also important for environmental education because it cultivates capable students. The "learn by doing" model that constitutes experiential learning instills a better understanding and appreciation of the broader environment in students and helps them develop insight into their skills and interests, especially during the reflection process. (Kent State University, n.d.) Also, the "learn by doing" model empowers students to use the knowledge and skills they already have to approach and attempt to resolve a problem. It provides students with self-confidence that they are capable of problem-solving, which again is complementary to the other areas of reform at focus because it builds off the knowledge base obtained from ecological

literacy, and bolsters critical thinking skills. Ultimately, experiential learning increases students' interest in environmental education and makes them more curious about the environment as well as more capable of protecting it. While this sense of individual empowerment is not an area of focus, it is another crucial component to a paradigm shift.

Place-Based and Experiential Learning in the Current Education System

Place-based and experiential learning in the primary and secondary education system are not obsolete; however, they usually take the form of brief outdoor recess (only when the weather permits) or infrequent field trips. Present-day primary and secondary school districts that use place-based and experiential learning as two of their main, routinely used methods of instruction are few and far between. School districts may abstain from using place-based and experiential learning as routine instruction methods for many reasons, some of which could include lack of proper funding, scarce community connections, and the concentration of teacher-centered and "teach to test" educational models discussed in Chapter 5: Critical Thinking. Instead of placebased and experiential learning, today, we see that school districts' main methods of instruction are heavily integrated with technology.

Technology in the classroom has its purpose, however, especially when primary and secondary school instructors rely mainly on technology to teach, it can be detrimental to students' ability to learn. In practice, reliance on technology in the classroom could include delivering lectures solely through presentation slides, routinely showing pre-recorded education videos including documentaries, or only constructing interactive activities in which students must use technology to participate. One study conducted in China concluded that "technology use played a negative role in facilitating communicative classroom discourses" and "with high technology

use, teachers used more display questions and directives and facilitated less spontaneous or authentic output from students in the target language." (Li et al., 2019) Another study conducted in the United Arab Emirates examined the effect of technology use on students' performance and behavior in school. This study concluded that the overreliance on technology could "deteriorate students' competencies of reading and writing, distort social interactions between teachers and students, dehumanize educational environments," and "isolate individuals when using technology." (Alhumaid, 2019) These are two of many worldwide studies that support the theory that technology use in school alienates students from each other and the world around them.

Specifically concerning environmental education, technology use alienates students from the natural world. Since the implementation of technology in American schools over the last twenty years, likely paired with the implementation of technology at home, children have begun to favor the exploration of the internet over the exploration of the outdoors. In an interview with environmental educator and academic David Sobel, one American teenage girl admitted, "Before we had a computer, I used to read a lot and go outside more to be in the neighborhood. Now, it's so easy to go exploring on the computer, it's like too much work to go outside." (Sobel, 2017, p. 23) Ultimately, the overreliance on technological-concentrated instruction methods in the primary and secondary education system is accelerating the increasing divide between learners, especially younger learners, and the natural environment.

The result of this divide between learners and the natural environment is what American journalist and non-fiction author Richard Louv refers to as "nature-deficit disorder." "Naturedeficit disorder" is not a medical diagnosis but rather a colloquial term used to describe the phenomenon that when humans are disconnected from nature, their senses weaken, they experience attention difficulties, and they are more prone to physical and emotional illnesses. He

claims "nature deficit disorder" in a young person will later fundamentally change the same person's behavior as an adult. (Louv, 2008, p.36)

Those who suffer from "nature-deficit disorder" inevitably show depreciated biophilic tendencies. Concurrently, research finds there to be an increase in the human display of biophobic tendencies. Biophobia, which is the opposite of biophilia, is the fear of living things and negative attitudes towards nature. (Platt, 2020) One study conducted in Japan surveyed school children's attitudes toward common insect species. The study found that "Children's level of biophobia was negatively associated with their frequency of nature experiences and knowledge of invertebrates," "the extinction of experience is likely to increase biophobia in children in the future," and "there is likely a feedback loop in which an increase in people who have negative attitudes towards nature in one generation will lead to a further increase in people with similar attitudes in the next generation - a cycle of disaffection towards nature." (Soga et al., 2020) This is just one of many worldwide studies that show biophilia decreasing and biophobia taking its place, both of which are a result of young individuals' decreased exposure to the outdoors.

Reform to Place-Based and Experiential Learning in the Current Education System

David Strobel, Richard Louv, and other environmental educators do not see the consequences of decreased exposure to the outdoors as an irrevocable problem. To the environmental education community, the solution is clear: increase young learners' exposure to the outdoors. Research clearly supports the idea that young individuals who are immersed in nature are more likely to grow into adults who show concern for and are capable of caring for nature. Exposure to and immersion in the outdoors, especially at an early age, is linked to adult

care for the environment, which is often demonstrated through actions like volunteerism, support for environmental policies, environmental career choices, buying green products, conserving energy, recycling, and more. (Sobel, 2017, p. 24) In another of David Sobel's interviews, a second teenager admitted, "For me, I learned to love nature before I did computers, and so [technology] doesn't really affect me. But if I started to use computers when I was really young, it might have kept me from getting into nature." (Sobel, 2017, p. 23) The solution is so clear it seems to be easily identifiable not only by the environmental education community but also by adolescents.

Place-based and experiential learning in the primary and secondary education system are key to increasing young individuals' exposure to the outdoors, ultimately reducing biophobia and increasing biophilia among the future American populace. The obstacles that prevent primary and secondary school districts from routinely utilizing place-based and experiential learning, like the lack of proper funding, scarce community connections, the concentration of teacher-centered and "teach to test" educational models, and others, are surmountable. Place-based and experiential learning can be integrated into the primary and secondary education system if educators reduce technology use in the classroom and educate with unconventional resources in their community.

As mentioned earlier in this chapter, technology has its place in the classroom; however, an overreliance on technological-concentrated instruction methods should be renounced to avoid unintended consequences on students' performance in school. Instead, educators can replace technology use with place-based and experiential learning instruction methods. A realistic example of reducing technology use and increasing place-based instruction methods might include replacing presentation-slide lectures with outdoor lectures. Even if the lesson is unrelated

to nature, outdoor exposure could help foster a connection between students and their local, natural environment. Another example of reducing technology use and increasing place-based learning might be substituting or supplementing a pre-recorded documentary with an in-class visit from a professional in the field. By welcoming a visitor, the educator is bringing a piece of the community directly into the classroom. (Minero, 2019) A realistic example of reducing technology use and increasing experiential learning would be to substitute online interactive activities with scavenger hunts or other activities that require students to get up from their seats and physically explore their surroundings.

Also, educators could get creative to discover the many unconventional resources that hold potential for place-based and experiential learning opportunities. Place-based education can be taught right beyond the school doors on the premise of the property, or if accessible, at the local park. (Minero, 2019) In the case that the educator cannot leave the classroom, place-based learning can even be taught through literature. (Häggström & Schmidt, 2020) As for experiential learning, it can emerge through collaboration with other educators and their students in the school or school district. Also, experiential learning can simply take the form of open-ended discussions, which allow students to formulate their own opinions, analyze the opinions of others, and collectively guide the direction of the conversation. (Barton, 2019)

There are no strict rules for place-based and experiential learning, which make improvement even more feasible. By assigning place-based and experiential learning a more prominent role in education, students will likely become more concerned for the environment, due to the strengthening of their biophilic tendencies. Students will also grow curious about the environment, as it will become more relevant to their daily lives. Finally, students will become more capable of protecting the environment, through the "learn by doing" model and hands-on

problem-solving activities. A shift to a more sustainable paradigm, which includes the abandonment of the domination attitude, the pursuit of a harmonious relationship with the environment, and the restructuring of provisioning systems, likely cannot be achieved with the concern, curiosity, and capability of those who are leading the transition.

Conclusion

The need for reform to environmental education comes from the deep-rooted, unsustainable environmental attitude that humans have been maintaining since ancient times. The environmental attitude that humans are permitted to dominate the environment began initially out of fear, then later out of a desire to benefit humanity, respectively. This environmental attitude is intimately intertwined with American provisioning systems, which now exist globally, and constitute a prominent paradigm. This paradigm is leading to irreversible, lifethreatening environmental degradation.

In early human history and for centuries after, the attitude to dominate the natural environment and the provisioning systems that accompanied it did not have such significant impacts on the Earth because there were far fewer humans and human activity was *evolutionary* rather than *revolutionary*. However, today, billions of people populate the planet and human activity is expanding rapidly. Human activity today is outpacing Earth's capacity to support it, and an effective approach to avoiding the irreversible, life-threatening environmental degradation it is causing is through a paradigm shift.

A paradigm shift requires foundational changes in every sector of society. There are many, but one of the most important foundational changes that are necessary to achieve a paradigm shift in the United States is reform to primary and secondary environmental education. Present-day environmental education, or lack thereof, is insufficient because it perpetuates

unsustainable provisioning systems, fails to equip learners with the necessary skills to recognize and respond to environmental threats, and disconnects students from the Earth. Ecological literacy, critical thinking, and place-based and experiential learning are feasible in today's education climate and have great potential to address these insufficiencies.

The first insufficiency is the lack of ecological literacy, which is one's understanding of Earth's basic ecological functions and the degree to which humans interact with these functions. It is important for ecological literacy to be included in environmental education reform because without it, students are being taught how to successfully integrate themselves into the unsustainable world that currently exists. With improvement to ecological literacy education, rather than perpetuate unsustainable provisioning systems, students will be prepared to create sustainable provisioning systems due to their ecological perspective and employment of systems thinking.

The second insufficiency is the lack of successful critical thinking education due to the teacher-centered classroom structure and the "teach to test" model. These are decreasing students' excitement and motivation to learn and encouraging students to memorize and reiterate rather than understand, absorb, and evaluate the information they are taught. Reform to critical thinking education will provide students with the adequate skills to recognize and respond to environmental threats in today's changing world by applying original, new ideas to manage the already-existing and emerging challenges associated with the adverse effects of these threats. It will also enable them to create sustainable provisioning systems.

Finally, the third insufficiency is the lack of place-based and experiential learning in the present-day primary and secondary education system. This disconnects, or removes and defamiliarizes, students from the natural environment. Reform to place-based and experiential

learning will foster learners' concern, curiosity, and capability to protect the environment. It will achieve this by strengthening biophilic tendencies through outdoor experiences, underscoring the relevance of the environment in everyday life, and incorporating hands-on activities in education. Improvement to environmental education will likely not entirely induce a paradigm shift on its own, as other sectors of society also need reform to achieve a full shift. However, environmental education is a crucial component to initiating a paradigm shift. Environmental education that specifically emphasizes ecological literacy, critical thinking, and place-based and experiential learning is an important agent in dismantling an increasingly dysfunctional environmental attitude, increasing the pursuit of a more harmonious relationship with the environment, and restructuring unsustainable provisioning systems, which will ultimately help usher humanity into a sustainable paradigm.

References

- Alberro, H. (2018 December 11) *Radical environmentalists are fighting climate change so why are they persecuted*? The Conversation. https://theconversation.com/radicalenvironmentalists-are-fighting-climate-change-so-why-are-they-persecuted-107211
- Alhumaid, K. (2019 October). Four Ways Technology Has Negatively Changed Education. Journal of Educational and Social Research, 9(4).

https://www.mcser.org/journal/index.php/jesr/article/view/10526

- American Geoscience Institute. (2021) *Earth Science in the Curriculum- or Not*. American Geoscience Institute. https://www.americangeosciences.org/content/earth-science-curriculum-or-not
- Assadourian, E. (2013 January 3). Re-engineering Cultures to Create a Sustainable Civilization.
 In The Worldwatch Institute (Ed.), *State of the World 2013: Is Sustainability Still Possible?* (pp.113-125). Island Press.
- Assadourian, E. (2017a) EarthEd: Rethinking Education on a Changing Planet. In E.
 Assadourian & L. Mastny (Eds.), *EarthEd: Rethinking Education on a Changing Planet* (pp. 3-20). Island Press.
- Assadourian, E. (2017b) The Future of Education: A Glimpse from 2030. In E. Assadourian & L.
 Mastny (Eds.), *EarthEd: Rethinking Education on a Changing Planet* (pp. 303-312).
 Island Press.
- Baird, T. (2020 October 16). Helping Your School District Go Green: It Takes a System. The Center for Ecoliteracy. https://www.ecoliteracy.org/article/helping-your-school-districtgo-green-it-takes-system
Barshay, J. (2019 September 9). *Scientific research on how to teach critical thinking contradicts education trends*. The Hechinger Report. https://hechingerreport.org/scientific-researchon-how-to-teach-critical-thinking-contradicts-education-trends/

Barton, T. (2019 August 20). *Experiential Learning In And Out Of Classrooms*. Serve Learn. https://servelearn.co/blog/experiential-learning-in-and-out-ofclassrooms/#:~:text=Examples%20of%20experiential%20learning%20activities,and%20 open%20ended%20questioning%20guidance

Beau, R. (2021 April 29). The Increasing Dangers Of Corporate Greenwashing In The Era Of Sustainability. Forbes. https://www.forbes.com/sites/beauriver/2021/04/29/theincreasing-dangers-of-corporate-greenwashing-in-the-era-ofsustainability/?sh=5ff45f54a325

Bodor, S., Braus, J., Pierpont, S. (2019). *State Environmental Literacy Plans*. North American Association of Environmental Education.

https://cdn.naaee.org/sites/default/files/eepro/resource/files/naaee_selp_2019_status_repo rt_0.pdf

Carson, R. (1962). Silent Spring. Houghton Mifflin.

Center for Ecological Literacy. (2021). *Ecological Education*. https://www.ecoliteracy.org/ecological-education

Chen, G. (2021 March 31). *An Overview of the Funding of Public Schools*. Public School Review. https://www.publicschoolreview.com/blog/an-overview-of-the-funding-of-public-

schools#:~:text=Approximately%2048%20percent%20of%20a,of%20homeowners%20in %20the%20area

- Christiansen, S. L. (1985 May) Teaching Critical Thinking Through Discussion: An Inservice Program. California State University, Northridge. https://dspace.calstate.edu/bitstream/handle/10211.3/129609/ChristiansenSylvia1985.pdf ?sequence=1
- Collins, R. M. (2000). *More: The Politics of Economic Growth in Postwar America*. Oxford University Press.
- Copp, D. T. (2018). Teaching to the test: a mixed methods study of instructional change from large-scale testing in Canadian schools. Assessment in Education: Principles, Policy & Practice, 25(5), 468–487. https://doi-

org.umiss.idm.oclc.org/10.1080/0969594X.2016.1244042

- Costa, A. (1985). Developing Minds: A Resource Book for Teaching Thinking. Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development, Alexandria, VA. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED332166.pdf
- Crisafulli, T. P. (2006) No Educator Left Unscathed: How No Child Left Behind Threatens Educators' Careers. *Brigham Young University Education and Law Journal 2006*(2). https://digitalcommons.law.byu.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1223&context=elj
- Crockett, L. (2021 September 19). 6 Benefits of Critical Thinking and Why They Matter. Future Focused Learning. http://blog.futurefocusedlearning.net/critical-thinking-benefits
- Crutzen, P. J. (2006). The "anthropocene". In *Earth system science in the Anthropocene*, 13-18. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg
- Davies, B. (2020 October 21). *West Antarctic Ice Sheet*. Antarctica Glaciers. http://www.antarcticglaciers.org/antarctica-2/west-antarctic-ice-sheet-2/west-antarctic-ice-sheet/

- Davis, S. L., & Henderson, J. (2011). This is a pretty place: visions of smokestacks and factories in 1910 and 2010. *Journal of Public Health*, 33(1), 143-146. https://doi.org/10.1093/pubmed/fdr013
- Dawson, J., & Oliveria, H. (2017) Bringing the Classroom Back to Life. In E. Assadourian & L.
 Mastny (Eds.), *EarthEd: Rethinking Education on a Changing Planet* (pp. 207-219).
 Island Press.
- Eckelman, M. J., & Sherman, J. (2016). Environmental Impacts of the U.S. Health Care
 System and Effects on Public Health. *PloS one*, *11*(6).
 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0157014
- Fanning, A.L., O'Neill, D. W., & Büchs, M. (2020 August 7). Provisioning systems for a good life within planetary boundaries. *Global Environmental Change*, 64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2020.102135
- Feeney, J. (2019). Hunter-gatherer land management in the human break from ecological sustainability. *The Anthropocene Review*, 6(3), 223-242. https://doi.org/10.1177/2053019619864382
- Folger, T. (2019). *The Cuyahoga River caught fire 50 years ago. It inspired a movement.* National Geographic. https://www.nationalgeographic.com/environment/article/thecuyahoga-river-caught-fire-it-inspired-a-movement
- Ford, J. (1980). The Election and the Environment-1980. *Environment*, 22(9), 25. https://doiorg.umiss.idm.oclc.org/10.1080/00139157.1980.9932452
- Fredrickson, L., Sellers, C., Dillon, L., Ohayon, J. L., Shapiro, N., Sullivan, M., Bocking, S.,Brown, P., de la Rosa, V., Harrison, J., Johns, S., Kulik, K., Lave, R., Murphy, M., Piper,L., Richter, L., & Wylie, S. (2018). History of US Presidential Assaults on Modern

Environmental Health Protection. *American journal of public health*, *108*(S2), S95–S103. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2018.304396

- Funk, C., & Kennedy, B. (2020 April 2021). How Americans see climate change and the environment in 7 charts. Pew Research Center. https://www.pewresearch.org/facttank/2020/04/21/how-americans-see-climate-change-and-the-environment-in-7-charts/
- Getting Smart. (2017 February 9). *What is Place-Based Education and Why Does it Matter?* Getting Smart. https://www.gettingsmart.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/What-is-Place-Based-Education-and-Why-Does-it-Matter-3.pdf
- Great Transition Network. (2021). *Great Transition Initiative Toward a Transformative Vision and Praxis*. Great Transition Network. https://greattransition.org/explore/scenarios
- Häggström, M., & Schmidt, C. (2020). Enhancing children's literacy and ecological literacy through critical place-based pedagogy. *Environmental Education Research*, 26(12), 1729–1745. https://doi-org.umiss.idm.oclc.org/10.1080/13504622.2020.1812537
- Halim, D. A., Karyanto, P., & Sarwono. (2019). Education for Sustainable Development: Student's Biophilia and The Emome Model as an Alternative Efforts of Enhancement in the Perspectives of Education. *AIP Conference Proceedings*, *2194*(1), 020037-1-020037-9. https://doi-org.umiss.idm.oclc.org/10.1063/1.5139769
- Hamilton, J. (2019). How California's Worst Oil Spill Turned Beaches Black And The Nation Green. National Public Radio. https://www.npr.org/2019/01/28/688219307/howcalifornias-worst-oil-spill-turned-beaches-black-and-the-nation-green
- Hansen, V. (2007 October 26). A Paradigm Shift to Protect Environment. *Community Connections 42: Environmental Health Education and Advocacy*. https://cfpub.epa.gov/si/si_public_record_report.cfm?Lab=NRMRL&dirEntryId=186305

- Helwig, B. (2021 July 16). "Drill and Kill" Analyzed. The New 3Rs Academic Transformation. https://www.thenew3rseducationconsulting.com/post/2018/08/02/-drilland-kill-analyzed
- Hill, G. (1969 November 30). Environment May Eclipse Vietnam as College Issue; ' Environmental Crisis' May Eclipse Vietnam as College Issue. The New York Times. https://www.nytimes.com/1969/11/30/archives/environment-may-eclipse-vietnam-ascollege-issue-environmental.html
- Howe, R. W., & Warren, C. R. (1989). Teaching Critical Thinking through Environmental Education. ERIC/SMEAC Environmental Education Digest No. 2. ERIC Clearinghouse for Science, Mathematics, and Environmental Education. https://www.ericdigests.org/pre-9217/thinking.htm
- Jackson, T. (2011). *Prosperity Without Growth: Economics for a Finite Planet* (2nd ed.). Earthscan Publications Limited.

Jones, J. M. (2010 March 10). Americans Say Jobs Top Problem Now, Deficit in Future: Economy, healthcare remain prominent concerns. Gallup. https://news.gallup.com/poll/126614/Americans-Say-Jobs-Top-Problem-Deficit-Future.aspx

Jones, J. M. (2010 March 16). In U.S., Many Environmental Issues at 20-Year-Low Concern: Worry about all eight measures tested is down from last year. Gallup. https://news.gallup.com/poll/126716/environmental-issues-year-low-concern.aspx

Jones, J. M. (2021 April 21). Four in 10 Americans Say They Are Environmentalists. Gallup. https://news.gallup.com/poll/348227/one-four-americans-say-environmentalists.aspx

Kemp, D. M. (2004). Exploring Environmental Issues: An Integrated Approach. Routledge.

- Kent State University. (n.d.) *What Is Experiential Learning And Why Is It Important?* Kent State University. https://www.kent.edu/community/what-experiential-learning-and-why-it-important
- Kim, D. H. (2018) Introduction to Systems Thinking. Pegasus Communications. https://thesystemsthinker.com/wp-content/uploads/2016/03/Introduction-to-Systems-Thinking-IMS013Epk.pdf
- Kinzig, A. P., Ehrlich, P. R., Alston, L. J., Arrow, K., Barrett, S., Buchman, T. G., Daily, G. C., Levin, B., Levin, S., Oppenheimer, M., Ostrom, E., & Saari, D. (2013). Social Norms and Global Environmental Challenges: The Complex Interaction of Behaviors, Values, and Policy. *Bioscience*, *63*(3), 164–175. https://doi.org/10.1525/bio.2013.63.3.5
- Klein, N. (2011 November 9). Capitalism vs. The Climate. The Nation. https://www.google.com/url?sa=D&q=http://www.thenation.com/article/164497/capitalis m-vs-climate%3Fpage%3D0,0&ust=163701828000000&usg=AOvVaw0H_-Q1xWu4owAqq0 svdan&hl=en&source=gmail
- Kraft, M. E., & Vig, N. J. (1984). Environmental Policy in the Reagan Presidency. *Political Science Quarterly (Academy of Political Science)*, 99(3), 415. https://doiorg.umiss.idm.oclc.org/10.2307/2149941
- Lathan, J. (n.d.) *Complete Guide to Teacher-Centered vs. Student-Centered Learning*. University of San Diego. https://onlinedegrees.sandiego.edu/teacher-centered-vs-student-centered-learning/
- Levin, K., Waskow, D., & Gerholdt, R. (2021 August 9). 5 Big Findings from the IPCC's 2021 Climate Report. World Resources Institute. https://www.wri.org/insights/ipcc-climatereport

Li, G., Sun, Z., & Jee, Y. (2019). The more technology the better? A comparison of teacherstudent interaction in high and low technology use elementary EFL classrooms in China. *System*, 84, 24–40. https://doi-org.umiss.idm.oclc.org/10.1016/j.system.2019.05.003

Louv, R. (2008). Last Child in the Woods. Algonquin Books of Chapel Hill.

- McNeil, J. R. (2001). An Environmental History of the Twentieth-Century World: Something New Under the Sun. W. W. Norton & Company.
- Megwalu, A. (2014). Practicing Learner-Centered Teaching. *Reference Librarian*, 55(3), 252–255. https://doi-org.umiss.idm.oclc.org/10.1080/02763877.2014.910438
- Minero, Emelina. (2019 April 19). *Place-Based Learning: A Multifaceted Approach*. George Lucas Educational Foundation Edutopia. https://www.edutopia.org/practice/place-basedlearning-connecting-kids-their-community
- Naess, A. (2005). The Deep Ecology Movement: Some Philosophical Aspects. In A. Drengson & H. Glasser (Eds.), *Selected Works of Arne Naess, X, 33-55*.
 https://openairphilosophy.org/wp-

content/uploads/2019/02/OAP_Naess_Deep_Ecology_Movement.pdf

National Environmental Education Act, S. 3176, 101 Cong. (1990).

https://www.epa.gov/sites/default/files/documents/neea.pdf

- National Geographic. (n.d.) *Anthropocene*. National Geographic Resource Library. https://www.nationalgeographic.org/encyclopedia/anthropocene/
- National Park Service. (n.d.) *Wolf Restoration*. U.S. Department of Interior. https://www.nps.gov/yell/learn/nature/wolf-restoration.htm
- Nijhuis, M. (2011 May 26). *Green Failure: What's Wrong With Environmental Education?* Yale 360, Yale School of the Environment.

https://e360.yale.edu/features/green_failure_whats_wrong_with_environmental_educatio

No Child Left Inside Act of 2008, H.R.3036, 110 Cong. (2008).

https://www.congress.gov/bill/110th-congress/house-bill/3036

Nordhaus, William D. 1992. Lethal Model 2: The Limits to Growth Revisited. Brookings Papers on Economic Activity. Washington DC: The Bookings Institution. https://www.brookings.edu/wpcontent/uploads/1992/06/1992b_bpea_nordhaus_stavins_ weitzman.pdf

Mora, R. (2011). "School is So Boring": High-Stakes Testing and Boredom at an Urban Middle School. *PennGSE Perspectives on Urban Education 9*(1). https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ957120.pdf

- Ortiz-Ospina, E. (2019 September 18). *The rise of social media*. Our World in Data. https://ourworldindata.org/rise-of-social-media
- Pelsue, B. (2017). When it Comes to Education, the Federal Government is in Charge of ... Um, What? Harvard Ed. Magazine. https://www.gse.harvard.edu/news/ed/17/08/when-itcomes-education-federal-government-charge-um-what
- Phelan, J., & Phelan, J. (2013 September 5). *Teaching to the (Right) Test*. Inside Higher Ed. https://www.insidehighered.com/views/2013/09/05/teaching-test-good-if-its-right-testessay
- Platt, J. R. (2020 March 13). *An Emerging Threat to Conservation: Fear of Nature*. The Revelator. https://therevelator.org/biophobia-fear-nature/
- Reagan, R. (1983 September 20). *Remarks at Convocation Ceremonies at the University of South Carolina in Columbia*. Ronald Reagan Presidential Library & Museum.

https://www.reaganlibrary.gov/archives/speech/remarks-convocation-ceremoniesuniversity-south-carolina-columbia

Ritchie, T., Heeschen, K., Winch, N., Yoo, J., Maruyama, A., & Chartove, N. (2016 May 14). *The State of Global Climate and Environmental Education*. Earth Day Network. https://www.earthday.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/World-Bank-Environmental-and-Climate-Literacy-Final-Report.pdf

Robertson, M. (2021). Sustainability Principles and Practice (3rd ed.). Routledge.

- Rodenburg, J., & Bell, N. (2017) Pathway to Stewardship: A Framework for Children and Youth. In E. Assadourian & L. Mastny (Eds.), *EarthEd: Rethinking Education on a Changing Planet* (pp. 61-71). Island Press.
- Roser, M., Ritchie, H., Ortiz-Ospina, E. (2019). *World Population Growth*. Our World in Data. https://ourworldindata.org/world-population-growth
- Saad, Lydia. (2010 March 15). Americans More Upbeat About Environmental Quality Fewer are worried about the environment. Gallup.

https://news.gallup.com/poll/126620/Americans-Upbeat-Environmental-Quality.aspx

- Schonrock, J., Sands, S., Marshall, A., Molitor, B., Spielberger, K., Fawbush, J., Leonatti, A., Calvopina, J., Dahl, R., Ellison, S. J., Temme, L., Bello, S., & Lindenberg, B. (2018 March 21). *The Roles of Federal and State Governments in Education*. FindLaw. https://www.findlaw.com/education/curriculum-standards-school-funding/the-roles-of-federal-and-state-governments-in-education.html
- Scruggs, L. & Benegal, S. (2012). Declining public concern about climate change: Can we blame the great recession? *Global Environmental Change*, 22(2), 505-515. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2012.01.002

- Seibert, M. (2018 November 8). Systems Thinking and How It Can Help Build a Sustainable World: A Beginning Conversation. Millennium Alliance for Humanity and the Biosphere. https://mahb.stanford.edu/blog/systems-thinking-can-help-build-sustainable-worldbeginning-conversation/
- Serjeantson, R. (2014). Francis Bacon and the "Interpretation of Nature" in the Late Renaissance. *Isis*, *105(4)*, 681-705. https://doi.org/10.1086/679419
- Shellenberger, M & Nordhaus, T. (2004). The Death of Environmentalism: Global Warming Politics in a Post-Environmental World. The Breakthrough. https://s3.us-east-2.amazonaws.com/uploads.thebreakthrough.org/legacy/images/Death_of_Environmentali sm.pdf
- Sloan, C & Potts, R. (2010). Being Human, Becoming Human: Survival of the Adaptable. *What does it mean to be human?* National Geographic.
- Sobel, D. (2017) Outdoor School for All: Reconnecting Children to Nature. In E. Assadourian & L. Mastny (Eds.), *EarthEd: Rethinking Education on a Changing Planet* (pp. 23-33)
 Island Press.
- Soga, M., Evans, M. J., Yamanoi, T., Fukano, Y., Tsuchiya, K., Koyanagi, T. F., Kanai, T. (2020 February). How can we mitigate against increasing biophobia among children during the extinction of experience? *Biological Conservation, 242*. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0006320719309577?dgcid=rss_sd all#
- Starr, Penny. (2009 May 15). "'No Child Left Inside Act' Would Spend \$500M Teaching 'Environmental Literacy' Starting in Kindergarten.'" Cybercast News Service.

https://cnsnews.com/news/article/no-child-left-inside-act-would-spend-500m-teachingenvironmental-literacy-starting

- Steffen, W., Broadgate, W., Deutsch, L., Gaffney, O., & Ludwig, C. (2015a). The trajectory of the Anthropocene: The Great Acceleration. *The Anthropocene Review*, 2(1), 81-98. https://doi.org/10.1177/2053019614564785
- Steffen, W., Richardson, K., Rockström, J., Cornell, S. E., Fetzer, I., Bennett, E. M., Biggs, R.,
 Carpenter, S. R., De Vries, W., De Wit, C. A., Folke, C., Gerten, D., Heinke, J., Mace, G.
 M., Persson, L. M., Ramanathan, V., Reyersand, B., & Sörlin, S. (2015b February 13)
 Planetary Boundaries: Guiding human development on a changing planet. *Science* 347(6223), DOI: 10.1126/science.1259855
- Stenlund, T., Lyrén, P.-E., & Eklöf, H. (2018). The successful test taker: exploring test-taking behavior profiles through cluster analysis. *European Journal of Psychology of Education EJPE (Springer Science & Business Media B.V.)*, 33(2), 403-417. https://doi-org.umiss.idm.oclc.org/10.1007/s10212-017-0332-2
- Stokes, D, & Raphael, S. (2010 June 7). Global Energy Security and American Hegemony. Johns Hopkins University Press.
- Stone, M. K. (2017) Ecoliteracy and Schooling for Sustainability. In E. Assadourian & L. Mastny (Eds.), *EarthEd: Rethinking Education on a Changing Planet* (pp. 35-47). Island Press.
- Styron, J. L., & Styron, R. A. (2012). Teaching to the Test: A Controversial Issue in Quantitative Measurement. *Journal on Systemics, Cybernetics and Informatics*, 10, 22-25.
- Strauss, V. (2018 February 12). Are states really trying to overcome the harmful legacy of No Child Left Behind? The Washington Post.

https://www.washingtonpost.com/news/answer-sheet/wp/2018/02/12/are-states-reallytrying-to-overcome-the-harmful-legacy-of-no-child-left-behind/

Temple, J. (2019 August 9). *What is geoengineering—and why should you care?* MIT Technology Review. https://www.technologyreview.com/2019/08/09/615/what-isgeoengineering-and-why-should-you-care-climate-change-harvard/

- The Famous People. (n.d.). 69 Insightful Quotes By Galileo Galilei, The Father Of Science. The Famous People. https://quotes.thefamouspeople.com/galileo-galilei-123.php
- United Nations Environmental Programme. (2019). Emissions Gap Report 2019 Executive Summary. United Nations Environment Programme, Nairobi. https://www.unep.org/emissions-gap-report-2020
- University of New Brunswick. (n.d.) *Experiential education*. University of New Brunswick. https://www.unb.ca/fredericton/science/depts/earthsciences/undergraduate/experiential.html
- US Fish and Wildlife Service. (1967 March 11). *Notice of Public Hearing Regarding Wilderness Study*. US Department of the Interior.

https://www.fws.gov/endangered/species/pdf/32FedReg_pg%204001.pdf

Willingham, D. T. (2019). How to Teach Critical Thinking. New South Wales Department of Education.

http://www.danielwillingham.com/uploads/5/0/0/7/5007325/willingham_2019_nsw_criti cal thinking2.pdf

Willingham, D. T. (2007) *Critical Thinking: Why Is It So Hard to Teach?* Reading Rockets. https://www.readingrockets.org/article/critical-thinking-why-it-so-hard-teach Working Group. (2021). *Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science Basis*. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change.

https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar6/wg1/downloads/report/IPCC_AR6_WGI_SPM_final.pdf